IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-02147-COA

CHRISTOPHER DARNELL EUGENE ROACH

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made so that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Christopher Darnell Eugene Roach

THIS 17 day of July, 2009.

Respectfully submitted,

CHRISTOPHER DARNELL EUGENE ROACH

By:

by McDonald ty McDonald, Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE #1:

THE VERDICT OF THE JURY IS CONTRARY TO ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AS TO THE INDICTED CHARGE OF MURDER

ISSUE #2:

THE CONDUCT OF THE DEFENDANT CONSTITUTED THE CRIME OF MANSLAUGHTER, NOT MURDER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves the trial of Christopher Darnell Eugene Roach on the charge of murder. The trial occurred November 5th and 6th, 2008, in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Honorable Roger T. Clark, Circuit Judge, presiding. Roach was convicted of murder, sentenced to life imprisonment and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Facts

Christopher Roach and Vonchartter Bailey had been husband and wife. Also, they were parents to a child. Although divorced, they maintained an amicable relationship. And, as an example of that amicable relationship, Roach and Ms. Bailey, spent considerable time together in the days before that Sunday, April 1st, 2007 – the day when Roach killed Ms. Bailey.

-1-

On Friday, March 30th, 2007, Roach and Ms. Bailey spent the day together and, then, spent the night together. During the day, they rode around town in the Jackson area until Roach dropped Ms. Bailey off at her mother's house around 4:30 p.m. Then, later, in the early evening, Roach and Ms. Bailey got together again and stayed the night together at Roach's residence.

The next day, Saturday, March 31st, Ms. Bailey had to work. She worked as a security guard, on an overnight shift. She invited Roach to come visit her while she worked; he did visit and, ultimately, remained with Ms. Bailey at her job during the entire overnight shift. During her work that night, Ms. Bailey told Roach of her plan – once she finished her shift – to travel to Gulfport for a couple of days. And, Ms. Bailey invited Roach to go with her. He accepted.

Upon completing her shift, Ms. Bailey and Roach went to Ms. Bailey's residence (at her mother's house) where Ms. Bailey gathered clothes and items for the trip, which she said would last a couple of days. Ms. Bailey also borrowed her mother's car for the trip due to her worry that her car would not hold up for the travel. Next, she and Roach went to his residence for him, likewise, to gather clothes and other items needed for the trip.

It was sometime relatively early on that Sunday morning that Ms. Bailey and Roach, now packed, departed for Gulfport.

Included among the items packed for the trip was: marijuana, powder cocaine, liquor and beer.

With Ms. Bailey driving, both Roach and Ms. Bailey snorted cocaine during the ride. Additionally, Ms. Bailey drank beer and Roach drank liquor.

-2-

Their destination was the Sun Suites hotel in Gulfport. They arrived in the early afternoon. Both went in to the hotel office, with Ms. Bailey reserving and paying for the intended two nights of stay. After taking their things to the room, Ms. Bailey and Roach made a quick trip to a local store to gather some food and drink to bring back to the room. Finally, settled into the room, they began to relax for a while in the room.

This relaxing included snorting more cocaine, smoking marijuana, and drinking alcohol. During this period of relaxing in the room, Roach called his mother back in Jackson to let her know where he was. He called because he had not told her about the sudden trip with Ms. Bailey to Gulfport. During that phone call, Ms. Bailey also took the opportunity to exchange conversation with Roach's mother.

This period of relaxing in the room lasted approximately one and one-half hours.

In addition to the cocaine, marijuana and alcohol, there was another non-

standard item brought along for the trip: a gun. Roach brought along the gun he carried for personal protection.

Twice before Roach had been shot. Each time had been during a confrontation. The most recent time, he had been shot in the face and, ultimately, lost his right eye from the injury inflicted by the shooting. From that most recent shooting, he still had two bullets lodged in his head.

So, he carried a gun. Always. It was loaded. Always.

On this occasion, the gun was packed in his gym bag. It was still in the gym bag during this period of relaxation in the hotel room. . . until. . . Ms. Bailey retrieved the gun, to play with it, apparently.

Ms. Bailey retrieved the gun. Roach was sitting on the bed as Ms. Bailey came

-3-

around and picked the gun out of Roach's gym bag. Then, Ms. Bailey walked with the gun to the other side of bed, that being the side of the bed closest to the bathroom. Ms. Bailey was standing, holding the gun.

At this point, both Ms. Bailey and Roach were under the influence of drugs and alcohol.

Roach asked Ms. Bailey to give him the gun back. She refused.

Roach got up, walked around the bed to where Ms. Bailey was standing with the gun and, again, asked for the gun back. Again, she refused.

A tussle ensued. A tussle over that gun.

Ms. Bailey turned around to prevent Roach from grabbing the gun. Roach, an above average man in size and armspan, reached around Ms. Bailey with his arms, in effect enveloping her, while he attempted to get the gun out of her hands. She held onto the gun.

Suddenly, the gun fired.

Roach was shot – in the left hand, between the thumb and wrist. The bullet exited from the pinky finger.

What happened next? "I have no idea," Roach testified at trial. Roach said his next memory was "waking up in the jail room."

What happened next? Roach shot and killed Ms. Bailey. He shot her six times.

Then, according to multiple witnesses, over the next several minutes, Roach engaged in an odyssey of strange behaviors. He walked in another hotel room, spoke to the two occupants, and dropped the gun on the floor. He began to disrobe. Blood drops of his marked his trail. He walked around various places at the hotel and then

-4-

made his way across the hotel parking lot to a convenience store located adjacent to the hotel. His wildly erratic behavior continued as he walked virtually unclothed into the convenience store, still dropping blood with each step, seeking to use a pay phone. Then, he went outside the store to the gas pumps, where he approached a customer with verbal ramblings and, finally, was subdued by police after a struggle.

i.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Christopher Darnell Eugene Roach respectfully argues the evidence presented at the trial was insufficient as a matter of law to sustain a conviction for murder. The facts relied upon by the state to support the verdict do not rise to a level sustaining a conviction for murder but, instead, sustain a conviction for manslaughter.

Roach argues that as a result of the above, this Court should vacate the judgment of the trial court and remand the matter for a new trial. In the alternative, Roach would argue the matter should be remanded to the trial court for re-sentencing on the lesser-included-offense of manslaughter.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE #1:

THE VERDICT OF THE JURY IS CONTRARY TO ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AS TO THE INDICTED CHARGE OF MURDER.

Roach submits the trial judge erred in not granting his request for a directed verdict in his favor at the end of the state's case-in-chief, and at the close of all the evidence. The state failed to meet its burden of proof by a requisite showing of evidence beyond a reasonable doubt as to the element of "deliberate design" in the offense charged. Additionally, the trial court erred in not granting Roach's Motion for JNOV and/ or New Trial. The verdict of the jury and the judgment and sentence of the trial court is contrary to established law and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Roach submits that the jury's verdict based upon the evidence presented at the trial, when considered in the light most favorable to the state, together with any and all reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom, is contrary to law and manifestly wrong. Considering the credible evidence as true, Roach submits that at best, fair minded jurors justifiably might have only found him guilty of manslaughter. <u>Tait v.</u> <u>State</u>, 669 So.2d 85, 88 (Miss. 1996); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 646 So.2d 538, 542 (Miss. 1994); <u>May v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

Considering the record in its entirety, Roach submits that as a matter of law, there exists sufficient doubt such that no reasonable juror could have convicted him on the indicted charge of murder. <u>Tait v. State</u>, 669 So.2d at 88.

In keeping with established principles of law in this jurisdiction, Roach would argue the trial judge erred in denying his requests for a directed verdict, JNOV and/or new trial. Prior rulings of this Court establish the threshold inquiry to be this: Are the totality of the circumstances and evidence in record sufficient to sustain a finding of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt? <u>Wetz v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 803, 808 (Miss. 1987).

For the charge of Murder, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(a) the elements are:

(1) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be murder in the following cases:
(a) When done with deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed.... (emphasis added)

The key element to address – and, the element not proven beyond a reasonable doubt -- is "deliberate design." The proof of "deliberate design" does not rise beyond a reasonable doubt. Roach instantaneously reacted... to being shot... and... shot Ms.

-7-

Bailey. Yes, he killed Ms. Bailey. No, he did not kill her with "deliberate design."

The evidence presented at the trial was insufficient as a matter of law to prove

the element of "deliberate design" necessary to sustain a conviction for murder.

ISSUE #2:

THE CONDUCT OF THE DEFENDANT CONSTITUTED THE CRIME OF MANSLAUGHTER, NOT MURDER.

For the charge of Manslaughter, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-35, the

elements are:

The killing of a human being without malice, in the heat of passion, but in a cruel or unusual manner, or by the use of a dangerous weapon, without authority of law, and not in necessary self-defense, shall be manslaughter.

In, Fair v. State, No. 2008-KA-00767-COA, at ¶15 (MS App. 2009)[decided June

2, 2009] this court quoted Mullins v. State, 493 So.2d 971, 974 (Miss. 1986) in stating:

[Heat of passion] is a state of violent and *uncontrollable rage* engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of *manslaughter*. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term *includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror.*

(Emphasis added.)

In this case, the gunshot by Ms. Bailey hitting Roach – whether accidental or

not - was the "blow or certain other provocation" and the "immediate and reasonable

provocation" which instantaneously sent Roach into "an emotional state of mind

characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror." In that emotional

state of mind, Roach acted as a matter of law in a "heat of passion" killing Ms. Bailey. Roach shot Ms. Bailey in response to being shot – in response to that "blow" from the gun – in response to that "provocation." Roach shot Ms. Bailey in the "heat of passion" and, as such, as a matter of law is only guilty of manslaughter.

CONCLUSION

Christopher Darnell Eugene Roach is entitled to have his conviction reversed and the matter remanded to the trial court for a new trial. In the alternative, Roach is entitled have his conviction on the charge of murder reversed and the matter remanded to the trial court for re-sentencing on the lesser-included-offense of manslaughter.