#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### CHRISTOPHER DARNEEL EUGENE ROACH

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-2147-COA

#### **STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## **APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

## BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

Issue II.	
	THERE WAS EVIDENCE OF MANSLAUGHTER
	AND MURDER 6
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE	<b>OF SERVICE</b>

į.

.

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## STATE CASES

,

Anderson v. State, 199 Miss. 885, 25 So.2d 474 (1946)
Bailey v. State, 785 So.2d 1071 (Miss.App. 2000)5
Crockerham v. State, 202 Miss. 25, 30 So.2d 417 (1947)
Gossett v. State, 660 So.2d 1285 (Miss.1995)
Kinkead v. State, 190 So.2d 838, 840 (Miss. 1966)
Lord v. State, 237 Miss. 12, 112 So.2d 528 (1959)
Magee v. State, 200 Miss. 861, 27 So.2d 767 (1946)

## STATE STATUTES

Miss. Code Ann. §§ 97-3-19(1)(a) ..... 1

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CHRISTOPHER DARNEEL EUGENE ROACH

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

#### NO. 2008-KA-2147-COA

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of the First Judicial District of Harrison did indict Christopher Darneel Eugene Roach for the crime of MURDER in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* §§ 97-3-19(1)(a). (Indictment, c.p.6). After a trial by jury, Judge Roger T. Clark, presiding, defendant was found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the crime. (Verdict of Jury, c.p.55). The trial court sentenced defendant to LIFE in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Well, defendant and the victim checked into a motel room off of Hwy. 49 near the Mississippi Gulf Coast. Defendant and the victim got in a scuffle. Defendant got shot in the hand, the victim got shot six times. The victim, Ms. Voncharttter from seven recent gunshot wounds her body from six different bullets at close range. One entered the left side of her nick, went through her left lung, her heart, her diaphragm, and the liver. A second one went through her back, went through her spine, her spinal cord into her right lung. Her third entered the right upper back, into the right lung and into the right chest wall. Another grazed the left shoulder. Another one hit her right forearm, and the final het her left thigh. Those gunshot wounds killed Vonchartter. (Tr. 96-99). Expert forensic pathology testimony indicated the gunshot wound the defendant received in his hand was consistent with him holding the victim down and shooting the victim through his hand. Tr. 100.

Defendant admitted to shooting the victim. He claimed it was heat of passion after getting shot in the hand. The jury heard the testimony saw the evidence and found defendant guilty of murder.

2

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### I.

## THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DELIBERATE DESIGN ELEMENT OF MURDER.

There was evidence that defendant intentionally, with deliberate design shot his victim several times. The evidence and expert testimony indicated the defendant's own gunshot wound in his hand could have been self-inflicted. The was sufficient evidence of deliberate design to support the jury verdict of murder.

## Issue II. THERE WAS EVIDENCE OF MANSLAUGHTER AND MURDER.

While generally, being shot, may be legally sufficient to support a reaction in "heat of passion" such was not necessarily present in this case. There was evidence that defendant may have inflicted the would on himself in the course of the struggle and shooting his victim six or seven times. Such was a question for the jury.

#### ARGUMENT I.

## THERE WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DELIBERATE DESIGN ELEMENT OF MURDER.

In this initial allegation of trial court error defendant just claims flat-out, as a matter of law, there was no evidence of deliberate design.

Such is not the case. There was evidence that defendant fought with his victim held her down and accidentally shot himself through the hand, while shooting his victim six times. Tr. 100.

Accordingly, there was evidence of deliberate design and after defendant testified there was evidence of manslaughter. There was evidence of both murder and manslaughter, - a jury question. The trial judge was correct in denying the motion for directed verdict as there was a question of fact for the jury.

¶14. Gossett v. State, 660 So.2d 1285 (Miss.1995), involved the appeal of a murder conviction wherein the defendant claimed that the victim was shot spontaneously during a scuffle and that the shooting constituted manslaughter at best. Even though the defendant was charged with murder, the jury was instructed on manslaughter as well. The Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the murder conviction finding that the evidence demonstrated "ample time in which to form the requisite intent for the crime of murder." Gossett, 660 So.2d at 1293. The court held that, "[w]hile there was certainly an evidentiary basis for the crime of manslaughter, the trial court properly granted a manslaughter instruction and the jury nevertheless unanimously agreed that Gossett was guilty of murder." Id. In making this determination the Gossettcourt also held that: Malice aforethought is defined as the equivalent of 'deliberate design.' [D]eliberate always indicates full awareness of what one is doing, and generally implies careful and unhurried consideration of the consequences. 'Design' means to calculate, plan, contemplate ... deliberate design to kill a person may be formed very quickly, and perhaps only moments before the act of consummating the intent.

Id,

¶ 15. The jury at Bailey's trial was instructed on murder, manslaughter, and self-defense. It chose to convict on the murder charge. We find, after viewing all of the evidence in a light most favorable to the verdict, that reversal is not warranted as the evidence is legally sufficient and the great weight of the credible evidence supports the verdict. The trial judge did not err in refusing to grant Bailey's motion for directed verdict and JNOV, nor did he abuse his discretion in denying Bailey's motion for a new trial.

Bailey v. State, 785 So.2d 1071 (Miss.App. 2000)

In conclusion, the State would argue there was legally sufficient evidence of

murder and manslaughter to send the question to the jury for resolution.

There being no error, no relief should be granted on this first allegation of

error,

#### Issue II.

# THERE WAS EVIDENCE OF MANSLAUGHTER AND MURDER.

The last allegation of error it is argued that a gunshot, whether accidental or not, is provocation capable of inciting a 'heat of passion' response. The State will not quibble about that statement. However there was also evidence that defendant inflicted the wound on himself (accidentally or not) – shooting himself through his hand – in shooting his victim multiple times. Tr. 100.

If the shooting was because defendant, accidentally or intentionally, inflicted his wound then such is not sufficient to provocation to mitigate the shooting to manslaughter.

We are of the opinion, however, that the rule is well-settled, that the issue as to whether or not an admitted homicide is murder or manslaughter is ordinarily a question for the jury on conflicting evidence. Lord v. State, 237 Miss. 12, 112 So.2d 528 (1959); Crockerham v. State, 202 Miss. 25, 30 So.2d 417 (1947); Anderson v. State, 199 Miss. 885, 25 So.2d 474 (1946); Magee v. State, 200 Miss. 861, 27 So.2d 767 (1946), suggestion of error as to death

Kinkead v. State, 190 So.2d 838, 840 (Miss. 1966)(Emphasis added).

This was not just a matter of evidence of provocation equals automatic manslaughter. There was conflicting evidence. Accordingly, it was for the jury to decide. There was evidence supporting deliberate design murder, – multiple shots fired at close range, and the injury defendant received could have been where he accidentally shot himself. Such is murder, contrary to what defendant now argues.

Consequently, there being an admission of the killing (tr.126) and a conflict in the evidence such is a question for the jury to decide. This rationale is support by the fact and the law. No error was committed by the trial court in denying the motion for directed verdict or motion for new trial.

Defendant had a fair trial, the questions of fact and law, were relatively limited and clearly presented. The jury was instructed on both murder, manslaughter, defenses and definitions. (C.p.48, 52, 53, 54). It decided on murder. There is evidence supporting such a verdict.

Therefore, no relief should be granted based upon this last allegation of trial court error.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the guilty of murder verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court.